

2-11-2007

The equator principles, project finance and the challenge of social and environmental responsibility

Jane Andrew

University of Wollongong, jandrew@uow.edu.au

Follow this and additional works at: <https://ro.uow.edu.au/commpapers>



Part of the [Business Commons](#), and the [Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons](#)

Recommended Citation

Andrew, Jane: The equator principles, project finance and the challenge of social and environmental responsibility 2007.

<https://ro.uow.edu.au/commpapers/365>

The equator principles, project finance and the challenge of social and environmental responsibility

Abstract

The Equator Principles, launched in 2003 and revamped in 2006, are a set of voluntary principles designed to help private lenders make socially and environmentally responsible project financing decisions. This paper explores the impact of these principles on the disclosures of two signatory banks, focusing on type of information disclosures that have resulted and the substance of these disclosures. The work considers whether it is possible to ascertain from publicly available information how the practices of the banks may have changed in order to focus on their stated social and environmental responsibilities. It is concluded that although the Equator Principles have marked the beginning of the banking sectors acknowledgement of their role in social and environmental responsibility, at this stage insufficient information is being disclosed to determine the impact these principles are having on actual banking practices.

Keywords

Ethical Banking, Responsible Finance, Corporate Social Responsibility, Equator Principle, ; Environmental Responsibility, Corporate Codes of Conduct

Disciplines

Business | Social and Behavioral Sciences

Publication Details

This article was originally published as Andrew, J, The equator principles, project finance and the challenge of social and environmental responsibility, *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 1(1), 2007.

**The Equator Principles, Project Finance and the Challenge
of Social and Environmental Responsibility**

Dr. Jane Andrew

School of Accounting and Finance,
The University of Wollongong.

Phone: 61 2 42214009

Email: jandrew@uow.edu.au

Submitted: 12/4/2007

The Equator Principles, Project Finance and the Challenge of Social and Environmental Responsibility

ABSTRACT

The Equator Principles, launched in 2003 and revamped in 2006, are a set of voluntary principles designed to help private lenders make socially and environmentally responsible project financing decisions. This paper explores the impact of these principles on the disclosures of two signatory banks, focusing on type of information disclosures that have resulted and the substance of these disclosures. The work considers whether it is possible to ascertain from publicly available information how the practices of the banks may have changed in order to focus on their stated social and environmental responsibilities. It is concluded that although the Equator Principles have marked the beginning of the banking sectors acknowledgement of their role in social and environmental responsibility, at this stage insufficient information is being disclosed to determine the impact these principles are having on actual banking practices.

Key Words: Ethical Banking, Responsible Finance, Corporate Social Responsibility; Equator Principles; Environmental Responsibility; Corporate Codes of Conduct.

Introduction

Corporations are under increasing pressure to represent themselves to multiple audiences, using complex, contested and often competing criteria to assess the performance of the firm (Cooper and Sherer, 1984; Cousins and Sikka, 1993; Gray, 1992). No longer is it presumed that corporate performance can be made transparent through the provision of financial information to interested users (Andrew, 2000). The firm itself is more complicated, and the notion of a passive identifiable audience is insufficient (Macdonell, 1986; Agger, 1992). Not only is the very notion of transparency a matter for much public debate (evidenced by the public discussion generated by the collapse of private corporations such as Enron, WorldCom, HIH; Baker and Hayes, 2004), but the identity of the potential user can not be presumed (Young, 2006), much less the purpose of the reporting process (Adams, 2004). As a result, many firms are attempting to respond to these complex expectations, not only to satisfy the requirements of the audiences for which the information is produced, but also to produce and constitute an audience for the information that the firm disseminates (Belkaoui and Karpick, 1989; Covaleski and Dirsmith, 1995; Hall, 1997; Husted and Allen, 2006).

Cultural practices that respond to, produce and reproduce social expectations have been considered within the field of cultural and media studies (Agger, 1992; Hall, 1997), and this work is beginning to inform research in emerging fields such as corporate social responsibility, sustainable reporting, environmental accounting and ethical finance. This paper utilizes Agger's (1992) work on media, culture and representation. I assume from the outset that information produced by corporations is

Deleted: .

Deleted: . The

Deleted: ..

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: .

Deleted: audienceaudienceaudienceaudienceaudienceaudienceaudienceaudience

Deleted: produces. Cultural practices that respond to, produce and reproduce social expectations have been considered within the field of cultural and media studies, but little of this literature has informed the emerging research in emerging fields such as corporate social responsibility, sustainable reporting, environmental accounting and ethical finance. This paper utilizes Hall's (1979) work on media, culture and representation. I assume from the outset that information produced by corporations is a media production, it is a discourse dominated by the institutional and cultural structures that allow its emergence, but it can never be controlled entirely by the producer.

Deleted: Utilising the theoretical analysis developed by Hall, this work focuses on the emergence of a new set of voluntary principles within the banking sector called the Equator Principles'. It is well documented that there has been a significant increase in the number of firms seeking to demonstrate their ethical credentials (Neimark, 1995; Kapstein, 2001; Sethi, 2002). Firms across all industries have come under increasing pressure to state their commitment to responsible social and environmental business practices (Kapstein, 2001), and the international project finance market is no different. Although there is little doubt corporations are adopting voluntary codes as a strategy, the purpose and impact of that strategy cannot be presumed. In order to explore these issues this research will consider the impact of the Equator Principle on the project financing disclosures of three banks, Westpac (Australian), Citibank (US) and HSBC (English). ¶

Deleted: 1979

Deleted: a production, it

framed discursively by the institutional and cultural structures that allow its emergence; it is constructed and constructing, productive and reproductive, constituted and constitutive. Accordingly, representations of and by the firm that fall into the category of corporate social responsibility are part of a process and are not an end in themselves as these can never be controlled entirely by the producer or the audience. This interactive process will be considered in more detail throughout the paper. It is hoped that this theoretical framing of voluntary corporate codes of conduct (specifically the Equator Principles) can help develop our understanding of the purpose, process and possible outcomes of these codes. Utilising the theoretical analysis offered by Hall (1997) and Agger (1992), this work focuses on the emergence of a new set of voluntary principles within the banking sector called the Equator Principles.

Deleted: discourse dominateddominated

Deleted: byby

Deleted: .

The Equator Principles

A financial industry benchmark for determining, assessing and managing social & environmental risk in project financing (www.equator-principles.com)

Deleted: What are thethethethethethe

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing: Double

Deleted: ?

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Left, Line spacing: Double

In 2003, the Equator Principles were developed by private lending institutions as a way to encourage private lenders to consider social and environmental issues before funding projectsⁱ. These principles have focused mainly on issues that arise as a result of project financing in developing countries and are defined as “a financial industry benchmark for determining, assessing and managing social risk in project financing” (www.equator-principles.com). They focus specifically on ‘project finance’ and although the definition of this may be contested within the banking and finance literature, for the purposes of the Equator Principles it is defined as

a method of funding in which the lender looks primarily to the revenues generated by a single project, both as the source of repayment and as security for the exposure...Project finance may take the form of financing of the construction of a new capital installation, or refinancing of an existing installation, with or without improvements. In such transactions, the lender is usually paid solely or almost exclusively out of the money generated by the contracts for the facility's output, such as the electricity sold by a power plant (www.equator-principles.com)

Once a bank became a signatory, the lender is able to advertise that they associated themselves with projects with minimal social and environmental impact and correspondingly, these projects would be less likely to threaten the security of the lender (Kass and McCarroll, 2006). The principles acknowledge the substantial social and environmental impact that financiers can have as they often determine the types of projects that will progress to development stage. It is argued that they have the power to encourage "responsible environmental stewardship and socially responsible development" (www.equator-principles.com). Signatory institutions have become known as Equator Principles Financial Institutions (EPFIs) and in 2003 they agreed to adhere to the following principles:

1. Review and Categorisation: Conduct a social and environmental review of a proposed project and categorize it in terms of its impact.

Categorisation of Projects:

Category A: Projects with potential significant adverse social or environmental impacts that are diverse, irreversible or unprecedented;

Category B: Projects with potential limited adverse social or environmental impacts that are few in number, generally site specific, largely reversible and readily addressed through mitigation measures;

Formatted: Line spacing: Double

Deleted: At inception in 2003

Deleted: aim of the Equator Principles was to encourage borrowers to develop projects in a more socially and environmentally responsible way in order for the borrower to secure financing. The

Deleted: are designed to

Deleted: and

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Right: 0", Line spacing: Double, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Tab after: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.5"

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Category C: Projects with minimal or no social or environmental impacts.

2. Social and Environmental Assessment: This does not have to be done by an independent expert unless it is a Category A project, social impacts assessed under the International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights ICESCR and the UN Convention on Human Rights.
3. Applicable Social and Environmental Standards must be followed (this includes host country laws, IFC Performance Standards)
4. Action Plan and Management System: This must address any finding in the assessment; it will describe any actions needed to implement mitigation measures, corrective actions and monitoring measures necessary to manage the impacts and risks. Borrowers must design a Social and Environmental Management System that addresses the management of these impacts, risks and corrective regulations.
5. Consultation and Disclosure: Consult with communities affected by the project.
6. Grievance Mechanism: Communities will have the right to have their grievances heard and addressed by the borrower (this is not independent of the lender and does not make provisions for an independent third party to oversee the process).
7. Independent Review: A social or environmental expert not directly associated with the borrower will review the assessment, action plan and consultation process.
8. Covenants: covenants linked compliance.
9. Independent Monitoring and Reporting: Independent environmental or social expert monitor and report on compliance over the course of the loan.

In 2003, this provided a starting point for the Equator project, but there were some significant problems. Specifically, these principles did not include a review body and there were no formally identified disclosure or transparency requirements. This meant that financial institutions could become signatories without there being any formal mechanism to scrutinize the way the institutions had integrated the principles. Wright and Rwabizambuga (2006, p.91) argue that this meant "that all Equator banks gain some reputational benefits irrespective of their actual practices". In order to address

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: . (

Formatted: Right: 0", Line spacing: Double, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Tab after: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.5"

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: Right ICCPRs

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: . However the US has not ratified the ICESCR, so will Wells Fargo and Citibank include this?.

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: , it

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: this

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: Social

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: Environmental Expert

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: monitors

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: reports

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: These principles

Deleted: the initial

Deleted: has

Deleted: in principle "means

~~these concerns, a revised version of the~~ Equator Principles ~~were~~ issued in 2006. ~~A~~
number of other changes ~~were~~ incorporated in these revised principles. ~~Specifically,~~
~~the~~ applicability of the principles expanded to include projects more than \$10 million
whereas previously the principle affected projects costing more than \$50million; the
principles now apply to the expansion and upgrade of existing projects that result in
new social and environmental impacts; EPFI's need to report on the progress and
implementation of the Equator Principles at least annually (as outlined below); there
are tighter rules regarding public consultation and the handling of grievances; and
there are stronger covenants to ensure compliance with the policies. Perhaps the most
significant change has been the inclusions of the 10th principle on EPFI Reporting
stating that

Deleted: To some extent this has been addressed in the revised

Deleted: There were a

Deleted:

Deleted: additional

~~10.~~ Each EPFI adopting the Equator Principles commits to report publicly at least annually about
its Equator Principles implementation processes and experience, taking into account
appropriate confidentiality considerations (www.equator-principles.com).

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25",
Hanging: 0.25", Right: 0", Line
spacing: Double

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Although this principle acknowledges the importance of transparency, the statement also implies that the business case for non-disclosure can legitimately outweigh the social or environmental imperatives for disclosure. It doesn't suggest how the information should be presented or the level of detail that is appropriate. In many ways the 10th principle allows banks to assert they are being transparent, without any pressure for substance. Some banks may choose to disclose information in a substantial way, but this is not an essential commitment. Although corporate disclosures are vital to an ongoing, informed dialogue between the community and the corporation about acceptable practices, it is important to acknowledge that claims of transparency can be problematic. As Hall (1997) has argued, everything in its

communication is a representation. All information is mediated through language, discourse and institutional imperatives it can never be wholly revealing in the way that the word transparency implies (Andrew, 2000). If corporations are allowed to claim they are being transparent through their disclosures, it may assist in the constitution of a passive, uncritical audience adding to the challenges faced by those seeking to transform banking practices.

It is well documented there has been a significant increase in the number of firms seeking to demonstrate their ethical credentials (Neimark, 1995; Kapstein, 2001; Sethi, 2002). Although there is little doubt corporations are adopting voluntary codes as a strategy, the purpose and impact of that strategy cannot be presumed (Husted and Allen, 2006). The World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the International Finance Corporation all assess the social and environmental risks of their lending decisions before funding projects. These assessments have been controversial, but there is no doubt that this approach to lending is fundamental to the legitimacy and identity of these multilateral institutions (Saravanamuthu, 2004; Annisette, 2004). In some cases, private financial institutions play a role in development projects. They may fund projects that the World Bank had decided not to finance, or they may supplement the funds provided by the World Bank. Either way, the lending practices of private institutions are increasingly scrutinized by non government organizations (NGO's) (Missbach, 2004).

As Branco and Rodrigues (2006, p. 234) have noted “(s)tudies focusing on social responsibility disclosure practices by financial institutions are scarce” and this work will assist in the development of research in this area. It will focus on the impact of

Deleted: There has been a significant increase in the number of firms seeking to demonstrate their ethical credentials. One way to do this is to support voluntary codes of conduct at the industry, national or international level (Wright and Rwabizambaga, 2006). These are largely normative (such as the Global Reporting Initiative; the International Finance Corporation's Sustainability Guidelines; the Equator Principles), and leave some scope for the firm to interpret and implement them within their business. There is no doubt that

Deleted: firms

Deleted: . The international project finance market is no different.

Deleted: Many within this sector have adopted the Equator Principles as their code of conduct. ¶

¶ The World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the International Finance Corporation all assess the social and environmental risks of their lending decisions before funding projects. These assessments have been controversial, but there is no doubt that this approach to lending is fundamental to the legitimacy and identity of these multilateral institutions (Saravanamuthu, 2004; Annisette, 2004). In some cases, private financial institutions play a role in development projects. They may fund projects that the World Bank had decided not to finance, or they may supplement the funds provided by the World Bank. Either way, the lending practices of private institutions are increasingly scrutinized by non government organizations (NGO's) (Missbach, 2004) ¶. In 2003, the Equator Principles were developed by private lending institutions as a way to encourage private lenders to consider social and environmental issues before funding projects. These principles have focused mainly on issues that arise as a result of project financing in developing countries. Although public development institutions are the leading source of funds for large scale infrastructure projects, multinational banks are increasingly involved in these projects. ¶

¶ This paper considers the purpose of ... [1]

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: these

Deleted: but

Deleted: (IFC)

Deleted: REF). In 2003, the Equator Principle emerged as a way to encourage private lenders to consider similar issues before funding projects, particularly those that were engaged in development financing in developing countries¶ ... [2]

Deleted: projects and these decisions were being

Deleted: many

the Equator Principles before the release of the June 2006 revisions as banks have yet to release information using these guidelines. This work will consider the information that has been available in the public domain up to the release of the revised principles and will not extend beyond this as there has not been sufficient time for banks to respond to the changes. This study will form a foundation on which to consider that changes that may occur as a result of the revisions, and this can be the focus of future research.

Deleted: ,

The Equator Principles and Project Financing Disclosures:

Any News?

Cultural studies lays bare the deception encoded in these dominant cultural artifacts. It criticizes the needs these cultural practices purvey through the guileful representations of a frozen second nature – reality as it “must” be – and instead suggests alternative formations of both human needs and social reality (Agger, 1992, p.145)

Deleted: ¶
Limitations and Challenges¶
¶
As may be expected the Equator Principles come with a disclaimer, after listing the essence of all ten principles it is stated¶
. ¶
In 2005, the Financial Times launched its Sustainable Banking Awards in association with the International Finance Corporation. These awards are part of an ongoing effort to raise the profile of sustainable banking and financing decisions.¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶

Formatted: Font: 14 pt, Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Line spacing: Double

In order to explore the impact of the Equator Principles on the practices of signatory banks, I have examined the public disclosures of HSBC and Westpac. These banks have been chosen as a starting point for this analysis because both HSBC and Westpac were actively involved in the design of the principles and have been associated with the principles since their inception in 2003. It should be acknowledged that this is an initial investigation and needs to be extended beyond these two banks in the future.

Deleted: ¶
¶

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Right: 0", Line spacing: Double

This examination is understood through the theoretical lens of works by Hall (1997) and Agger (1992). In order to consider the impact of the Equator Principles on the banks, the banks 'responsibility report' from 2003 (the year the Equator Principles began) until 2006 and publicly released information regarding the integration of the Equator Principles into the banks practices. It became apparent that very little information of any substance was available, all banks made references to the principles and talked about what they were doing to integrate the principles but this research revealed that the information was shallow and did not enable a knowledgeable reader to work out just how the principles were impacting on the banks practices in any substantial way. The following section considers each bank in detail.

▲----->

HSBC

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Line spacing: Double

According to (Agger, 1992, p.184) “(r)epresentation is a political practice where it encodes its content in the illusion of authorless stancelessness”. And banks disclosures under the Equator Principles are a study in such representation. These disclosures are not apolitical, they are deliberate representations of the firm, but are presented and represented as benign, transparent statements about position and policies. However, as Agger argues they are not neutral, far from it they position the politics of the firm within the appearance of authorless representation. HSBC is the third largest bank in the world by market capitalization and they signed on to the Equator Principles in 2003, taking on more high profile roles as the chair of the Equator Principles Working Group in 2005 and as a participant in the redrafting of the Equator Principles in 2006. As such, they have positioned themselves as an author,

but when reporting on practices relating to the principles their authorship is all but invisible.

Having reviewed the information available regarding HSBC's Equator Principles commitment, in general the level of substance supporting their claims was lacking. The bank used innumerable opportunities to refer to the Equator Principles without providing anything more than a stated commitment. In so doing they position themselves as committed, without having to produce evidence of such commitment.

In this context, it is difficult to assess the way the principles are impacting on HSBC's practices, let alone the impact these may have on the actual social and environmental consequences of these practices.

However, we can see that the representational performance is vital to HSBC's identity as they refer to the Equator Principles whenever an opportunity arises. For instance, HSBC claim that "we do not see this as an "add-on" to our business, but a key part of a much wider approach to managing the sustainability of our lending" (<http://www.hsbc.com/hsbc/csr/our-sustainable-approach-to-banking/equator-principles>, Accessed: 9th February, 2007). However, a detailed search of the banks publicly available information revealed little to substantiate this claim. HSBC also states that they have "established internal procedures that require all relevant project related loans to be categorised in accordance with the Equator Principles" (<http://www.hsbc.com/hsbc/csr/our-sustainable-approach-to-banking/equator-principles> Accessed: 9th February, 2007) but, again there is no way to externally verify this stated commitment and there is no legal obligation on HSBC to do so as the principles are not mandatory.

In an attempt to substantiate their commitment they claim that they report annually on the equator principles transactions in their CSR Report, and they provide aggregate information but this information lacks substance, it reveals nothing about the nature of the projects they are engaging, or the internal processes in place to assess them against the Equator Principles. There is little concern about the ways the banks decisions may have changed the social and environmental outcomes experienced at the project site. This kind of detail would enable a user to understand how the bank is creating a 'better world', rather than just internal procedures to meet the principles with little external verification.

On closer inspection of HSBC CSR Reports they are disclosing some information in relation to the principles. In HSBC's 2003 CSR Report they are committed to report summary numbers for the total value and volume of project finance deals booked. In their discussion on the implementation of the Equator Principles they say they'll update their procedures manual and train staff involved in the project finance and that demonstration that they are adhering to the Equator Principles will be provided through a the previously mentioned summary report. This is their commitment to public information. This is a cultural practice that can "situate the creation of cultural artifacts in complex and economic spaces within which creative activity is conditioned, even determined" (Agger, 1992, p.13). The assertion of the corporate agenda on the processes possible through the Equator Principles can be revealed in the limits, the invisible spaces that are not represented by the firm. Following on from this, HSBC's CSR reports also focus considerably on their commitment to training staff on the Equator Principles, but again, these are statements and there is little

evidence to support these claims or information in order to understand how the training is being conducted and what aspects of the principles are being implemented, at what level and for what purpose. The intention is delimited, and the focus is created – irrespective of how this can be traced to improved social and environmental performance.

To a large extent the Equator Principles are self referential in that the banks can employ “independent experts” or “independent consultants” to advise them. This advice is not made public, and the level of independence is not ensured, they purely make the statement that they “retain a panel of consultants covering various industry sectors, environmental and social risk capabilities, and geographic locations, which our Project Finance teams can draw upon. The selection of consultants is managed centrally by Project Finance, with guidance from the Environmental Risk Unit as appropriate.” (<http://www.hsbc.com/hsbc/csr/our-sustainable-approach-to-banking/equator-principles> Accessed: 9th February, 2007). There is no way of externally verifying the quality of this advice, or the level of bias that may ensue from the commercial arrangements agreed to when providing the advice and so on.

However, the firm is able to represent itself as legitimate, with external experts verifying their internal procedures seamlessly creating a discourse of legitimacy to which they can fulfil and control.

HSBC also reveals they are focused on the reputational benefits the Equator Principles provide, as opposed to the social and environmental contribution that banks can make through improved commitment to responsible lending. For instance, they state that they want “to help mitigate environmental credit risk and adverse impacts on our reputation” so they “have developed sector guidelines and have adopted

internationally recognised codes of conduct, such as the Equator Principles, to help us in our decision-making.” (HSBC, Key CSR issues, 30 June 2006, www.hsbc.com).

The banks perception that an association with the principles has positive reputational benefits is evident in the way in they refer to the Equator Principles every time they release information about any project that is associated with responsible behaviour.

Again, the self referential nature of the Equator Principles is evident upon any detailed consideration of the banks statements regarding the principles. It became apparent that everything HSBC did that linked to the community or the environment presented an opportunity to promote the Equator Principles. For example:

1. The release of their forest sector guidelines allows them to say “the guideline announced today demonstrates our commitment to the Equator Principles in relation to the forest land and forest products sector” (HSBC launches forest sector guideline, 28 May 2004), even though there is no direct relationship.
2. When discussing their effort to be a ‘carbon neutral’ bank they say “this complements the actions it is already taking to address the indirect impact it has on environmental and social issues arising when financing projects for customers. For example, in 2003, HSBC adopted the Equator Principles.” (HSBC world’s first major bank to go carbon neutral, 6 December 2004), in so doing, they readvertise their commitment to the principles although there is no direct link between the two.
3. The release of HSBC’s chemical industry sector guidelines is an opportunity for them to note that it reinforces the “the Group’s

adoption in 2003 of the Equator Principles - a set of voluntary guidelines applied to project finance activities.” (HSBC launches chemicals industry sector guideline, 03 August 2005);

4. They also claim that their freshwater infrastructure guidelines “reinforce HSBC’s commitment to the Equator Principles, a set of voluntary guidelines providing a common framework for major banks to address environmental and social issues arising from financing projects.” (HSBC launches freshwater infrastructure guideline, 27 May 2005);
5. The launch of a climate change partnership with Newcastle University and the University of East Anglia enabled them to say that “in 2003, HSBC adopted the Equator Principles” (HSBC launches climate change partnership, 08 December 2004) even though there is no direct link between these two projects.

Obviously, HSBC is representing their bank as a socially and environmentally responsible lender. The strategies outlined above would suggest they are using any given opportunity to use the Equator Principles to reposition the firm in this light. Unfortunately, at the stage it is impossible to tell if these are having a positive impact on the internal practices of the bank, a situation that may change as the disclosure requirements of the Equator Principles change.

Westpac

“A radical cultural studies intervenes politically where it challenges representation to theorize itself, understanding how the repertoire of interpretive activities in which we

habitually and thoughtlessly engage is, in fact, a careful political construction – call it ideology” (Agger, 1992, p.183)

Westpac is the only Australian bank to adopt the Equator Principles, having become a signatory in 2003. Westpac’s 2004 Stakeholder Impact Report, acknowledges the banks commitment to the Equator Principles but provides no material evidence of the incorporation of these into their practices. They state the “we felt it was important to support this initiative so that standards such as these are adopted by all banks in the marketplace and the likelihood of competition between banks on environmental and social grounds is minimised” (SIR 2004, p.35). In this statement, the bank clearly articulated a strategic interest in the development of the Equator Principles, but such an interest would leave any interested party to wonder whether such this interest was to further development, innovation, commitment. The emergent representations are political (Agger, 1992)

In Westpac’s 2005 Stakeholder Impact Report, they reaffirm their commitment to the Equator Principles, again they use this opportunity to emphasise that they are the sole Australian signatory. Like HSBC, Westpac offers some aggregate information outlining projects impacted on by the Equator Principles. They state that 13 projects were financed in the year (all in Australia and the Pacific Islands), 6 new projects, 1 to buy an existing asset and six were for the refinancing of an existing asset. They state that 4 had capital costs below \$50million, but they do not say if these underwent the same assessment process or not. The summary information is very ambiguous, giving detail but not substantial enough to consider how the Equator Principles are working. They declined “a number of transactions” but claim this was not because of breaches of the Equator Principles offering no insight into the internal processes used for assessment, whether any projects underwent additional investigation based on the

Equator Principles, whether they hired external advisers to assist in the assessment of the projects, or whether the projects needed to undergo any changes to meet the banks standards. In essence, very little information was provided.

In Westpac's 2006 Stakeholder Impact Report, they congratulate themselves on making their commitment to the "Actually quite stunning" (their words 2006, p.7) Equator Principles and that they had successfully marketed themselves as an environmentally responsible bank through their 2006 advertising campaign. They claim this has led to request for more information and that it has been met "with an astounding response" (2006, p.27), but they do not disclose whether they are providing this additional information and in what form. Their aggregate information proves no more substantial than the previous year, with them claiming that they closed 14 deals, 6 new, 1 an expansion of an existing asset, and 7 refinancing of an existing asset. Equator Principles applied to all except one as it was below \$10million. Again they state that "a number of transactions were declined during the past year, several for reasons including environmental concerns" (p.31) but do not elaborate on this. Interestingly, unlike HSBC, they don't tell the audience how much the projects are worth to them. We have no idea of the size of this section of Westpac's business and how substantially it will impact on the firm. We are to believe they are doing a good job as the external audit report stated that "as a result of testing Equator Principles implementation we concluded that the overall approach and process is robust. In addition, we identified a small number of improvement opportunities" (p.91).

As outlined in the case of HSBC, Westpac also uses any mention of anything related to corporate social or environmental responsibility provides them with an opportunity

to mention the Equator Principles. These references provide little opportunity for external verification of internal change or commitment to the substance of the Equator Principles. Instead their lack of substance reinforces the impression that these principles are being exploited for their marketing potential. For example:

1. Westpac acknowledges the importance of carbon neutral business practices and then outlines the banks commitment to all environmental policies including its commitment “to the revised Equator Principles, a framework for assessing social and environmental risk in project finance - the only Australian bank to do so” (Westpac, 13 December 2006, Westpac report finds risks and opportunities in climate change);
2. When discussing corporate environmental policy and governance on their website Westpac highlights their commitment to the Equator Principles stating that “environmental considerations are factored into our investment and lending decisions and we also adhere to the Equator Principles in managing environmental and social risk in project finance” (<http://www.westpac.com.au/internet/publish.nsf/content/wicrevpg%20our%20commitment>);
3. Westpac promotes its receipt of the award for the “Best Project Finance Bank in Australasia for 2006” by Global Finance magazine, with reference to their commitment to the Equator Principles’s. This reference has little to do with the award, but allows the bank to state that they are signatories to them and that they are committed to promoting responsible project finance.

<http://www.westpac.com.au/internet/publish.nsf/content/wicrln%20cr%20archived%20news%2023%20october%202006>, 23 October 2006, Westpac wins project finance award);

4. [They also received a AAA \(outstanding\) rating from RepuTex Social Responsibility Rating, wherein along with other factors, Westpac was noted for the only Australian bank to sign the Equator Principles;](#)
5. [When discussing the opening of an educational residential eco-village funded by the bank in South East Queensland, the state “Westpac remains the only Australian bank to become a signatory of _____ the _____ Equator Principles.”\(http://www.westpac.com.au/internet/publish.nsf/content/wimcmr06%20archive%20media%20release%2024%20july%202006, 24 July 2006, Westpac finances Australia's first educational residential eco-village\). This reference to the Equator Principles has nothing to do with the project, but reinforces the image of a globally responsible lender.](#)

This research shows that Westpac is deploying very similar strategies to that adopted by HSBC, using the Equator Principles to reposition the firm as socially and environmentally responsible. Just as HSBC may well be undergoing internal changes that can substantiate such a claim, Westpac may be engaging in similar internal transformations required to live up to these claims – but they are not making these clear to the public, so a reader could be forgiven for thinking that the Equator Principles lack substance. Time will tell, and more research will be required in order to assess the impact of the Equator Principles on banking practices.

Conclusions

[\(W\)e can phrase the political agenda of this cultural studies negatively: it wants to help people avoid domination – self defeating, self-reproducing practices that violate their own best interests \(Agger, 1992, p.196\)](#)

The Equator Principles mark the beginning of the financial industries recognition of their social and environmental impact. When the disclosure practices of two banks were considered in light of this voluntary code and the representational performance through which they operate, it has been revealed that banks are saying little of substance about their impact on the social and environmental practices of the bank. Instead they form part of a greater dialogue about how to represent the bank that is not devoid of real world consequences, some of which may have positive social and environmental outcomes. However, as Agger (1992) has pointed out the cultural logic of late capitalism pits the expansionist agenda of corporate strategy against the social and environmental responsibilities of the modern corporation. Codes such as the Equator Principles are not authorless, stanceless offerings in a politically neutral world. Instead, they are sophisticated attempts to position the firm within the contemporary pressures of the modern socio-political environment and they are inescapably political. They are a deliberate act of representation, but they are participatory and through an audiences critical readings of the disclosures of banks new representations will form, that may lead to changes that have positive social and environmental consequences.

Bibliography

Deleted: ¶

¶
¶
¶
¶

[Agger, B. \(1992\), *Cultural Studies as Critical Theory*, The Falmer Press: London.](#)

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

[Annisette, M. \(2004\), "The True Nature of the World Bank", *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, Vol.15 No.3, pp. 303-323.](#)

[Baker, C. R. and Hayes, R. \(2004\), "Reflecting Form Over Substance: The Case of Enron Corp", *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, Vol.15 No.6-7, pp.767-785.](#)

[Baku-Ceyhan Campaign, \[www.baku.org.uk/publications/Equator_Principles.doc\]\(http://www.baku.org.uk/publications/Equator_Principles.doc\), *Evaluation of Compliance of the Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan \(BTC\) Pipeline with the Equator Principles*, October 2003.](#)

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Left, Line spacing: Double

[Belkaoui, A. and Karpik, P. G. \(1989\), "Determinants of the Corporate Decision to Disclose Social Information", *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, Vol.2 No.1, pp. 36-51](#)

Branco, M. C. and Rorigues, L. L. (2006), "Communication of Corporate Social Responsibility by Portuguese Banks: A Legitimacy Theory Perspective", *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, Vol.11 No.3, pp.232-248.

Burchell, J. and Cook, J. (2006), "Confronting the "Corporate Citizen": Shaping the Discourse of Corporate Social Responsibility", *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, Vol.26 No.34, pp.121-137.

[Cooper, D. J. and Sherer, M. J. \(1984\), "The Value of Corporate Accounting Reports: Arguments for a Political Economy of Accounting", *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, Vol.9 No.2/3, pp. 207-32.](#)

[Covaleski, M. A. and Dirsmith, M. W. \(1995\), "The Preservation and Use of Public Resources: Transforming the Immoral Into the Merely Factual", *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, Vol.20 No.2/3, pp. 147-173](#)

[Cousins, J. and Sikka, P. \(1993\), "Accounting for Change: Facilitating Power and Accountability", *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, Vol.4, pp. 53-72.](#)

[Deegan, C. \(2002\) "Introduction: The Legitimising Effect of Social and Environmental Disclosures – A Theoretical Foundation", *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, Vol.15 No.3, pp 282-311.](#)

[Deegan, C. and Blomquist, C. \(2006\), "Stakeholder Influence On Corporate Reporting: An Exploration of the Interaction Between WWF-Australia and the Australian Minerals Industry", *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, Vol.31, pp. 343-372.](#)

Formatted: Footer, Line spacing: Double

[Cooper, D. J. and Sherer, M. J. \(1984\), "The Value of Corporate Accounting Reports: Arguments for a Political Economy of Accounting", *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, Vol.9 No.2/3, pp. 207-32.](#)

[Hall, S. Ed. \(1997\), *Representation: Cultural Representations and Signifying Practices*, Sage: London.](#)

[Hall, S. \(1996\), "On Postmodernism and Articulation: An Interview with Stuart Hall", in Morley, D. and Chen, K-H. \(Ed.\) \(1996\), *Stuart Hall: Critical Dialogues in Cultural Studies*, Routledge: New York.](#)

Harvey, F. (2005), "Rise of the Ethical Financier: The FT Sustainable Banking Awards", *Financial Times*, November, page 13.

[Husted, B.W and Allen, D.B. \(2006\), "Corporate Social Responsibility in the Multinational Enterprise: Strategic and Institutional Approaches", *Journal of International Business Studies*, Vol.37. No.6, pp. 838-849.](#)

[Kapstein, E. B. \(2001\), "The Corporate Ethics Crusade", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol.80 No.5, pp. 105-114.](#)

Kass, S. L and McCarroll, J. M (2006), "The Revised Equator Principles", *New York Law Journal*, Vol.236 Iss 44, p 3.

Langlois C. C. and B. B. Schlegelmilch (1990), "Do Corporate Codes of Ethics Reflect National Character? Evidence from Europe and the United States". Journal of International Business Studies, Fourth Quarter, pp. 519–536.

Levis, J. (2006), "Adopting of Corporate Social Responsibility Codes by Multinational Companies", Journal of Asian Economics, Vol.17, pp.50-55.

Deleted: ¶

Llewelyn, S. (2003), "What Counts as "Theory" in Qualitative Management and Accounting Research?: Introducing Five Levels of Theorizing", Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal, Vol.16 No.4, pp. 662-708.

Macdonell, D. (1986), *Theories of Discourse: An Introduction*, Basil Blackwell: UK

Missbach, A. (2004), "The Equator Principles: Drawing the Line for Socially Responsible Banks? An Interim Review from an NGO perspective", *Development*, Vol.47 No.3, p. 78.

Moerman, L. and Van Der Laan, S. (2005), "Social Reporting in the Tobacco Industry: All Smoke and Mirrors?", *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, Vol.18 No.3, pp. 374-389.

Morley, D. and Chen, K-H. (Ed.) (1996), *Stuart Hall: Critical Dialogues in Cultural Studies*, Routledge: New York.

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing: Double

Neimark, M. K. (1995), "The Selling of Ethics: The Ethics of Business Meets the Business of Ethics", Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal, Vol.8 No.3, pp.81-96.

Neville, B. A., Bell, S. J. and Meguc, B. (2005), "Corporate Reputation, Stakeholders and the Social Performance-Financial Performance Relationship", European Journal of Marketing, Vol.39 No.9/10, pp 1184-1198.

Saravanamuthu, K. (2004), "What is Measured Counts: Harmonized Corporate Reporting and Sustainable Economic Development", Critical Perspectives on Accounting, Vol.15 No.3, pp. 295-302.

Scott, D. (2005), "The Ethics of Stuart Hall", Small Axe, Vol.17, pp.1-16.

Setyi, S. P. (2002), "Corporate Codes of Conduct and the Success of Globalization." Ethics and International Affairs, 16 (1), pp. 89-106.

Singh, J. B. (2006), "A Comparison of the Contents of the Codes of Ethics of Canada's Largest Corporations in 1992 and 2003". Journal of Business Ethics, Vol.64, pp.17-29.

Tilt, C. A. (1994). "The influence of external pressure groups on corporate social disclosure, some empirical evidence", Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal, 7(4), 47-72.

Tilt, C. A. (1997). Environmental policies of major companies: Australian Evidence. British Accounting Review, 29(4), 367-394.

Thomas, W. (2006), "Equator Principles II", International Financial Law Review, September, www.iflr.com

Wright, C. and Rwabizambuga, A. (2006), "Institutional Pressures, Corporate Reputation and Voluntary Codes of Conduct: An Examination of the Equator Principles", Business and Society Review, Vol.111 Iss.1, pp.89-117.

Young, J. (2006). "Making Up Users", Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol.31, pp.579-600.

Formatted: Line spacing: Double

ⁱ Over 40 banks across the globe have adopted the Equator Principles including ABN AMRO Bank, N.V. ; ANZ; Banco Bradesco; Banco do Brasil; Banco Galicia; Banco Itaú; Bank of America; BMO Financial Group; BTMU; Barclays plc; BBVA; BES Group; Calyon; Caja Navarra; CIBC; CIFI; Citigroup Inc.; Credit Suisse Group; Dexia Group; Dresdner Bank; E+Co; EKF; FMO; Fortis; HBOS; HSBC Group; HypoVereinsbank; ING Group; Intesa Sanpaolo; JPMorgan Chase; KBC la Caixa; Manulife; MCC; Mizuho Corporate Bank; Millennium bcp; Nordea; Nedbank Group; Rabobank Group; Royal Bank of Canada; Scotiabank; SEB; Standard Chartered Bank; SMBC; TD

Bank Financial Group; The Royal Bank of Scotland; Unibanco; Wachovia; Wells Fargo; WestLB AG; Westpac Banking Corporation. Many of these have only recently associated themselves with the principles, so it will be interesting to see how these banks illustrate their commitment in the future.

Many within this sector have adopted the Equator Principles as their code of conduct.

The World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the International Finance Corporation all assess the social and environmental risks of their lending decisions before funding projects. These assessments have been controversial, but there is no doubt that this approach to lending is fundamental to the legitimacy and identity of these multilateral institutions (Saravanamuthu, 2004; Annisette, 2004). In some cases, private financial institutions play a role in development projects. They may fund projects that the World Bank had decided not to finance, or they may supplement the funds provided by the World Bank. Either way, the lending practices of private institutions are increasingly scrutinized by non government organizations (NGO's) (Missbach, 2004)¹. In 2003, the Equator Principles were developed by private lending institutions as a way to encourage private lenders to consider social and environmental issues before funding projects. These principles have focused mainly on issues that arise as a result of project financing in developing countries. Although public development institutions are the leading source of funds for large scale infrastructure projects, multinational banks are increasingly involved in these projects.

This paper considers the purpose of the Equator Principles in light of current research on voluntary codes of conduct and corporate legitimacy. There

REF). In 2003, the Equator Principle emerged as a way to encourage private lenders to consider similar issues before funding projects, particularly those that were engaged in

development financing in developing countriesⁱⁱ. It is still true to say that public development institutions are the leading source of funds for large scale infrastructure projects, multinational banks are increasingly involved in these projects).In some cases, private financial institutions stepped in after the World Bank

ⁱ For example, the \$3.6 billion Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan (BTC) oil pipeline from the Caspian Sea in Azerbaijan to the Mediterranean in Turkey was partially funded by nine of Equator Principles banks in February 2004. When the Baku group launched an investigation into the banks evaluation of the project they found that the Equator Principles had been breached on at least 127 accounts (Baku Ceyhan Campaign, http://www.baku.org.uk/publications/Equator_Principles.doc.)

ⁱⁱThis is a list of all institutions which have adopted the Equator Principles (as at November 2006).

[ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.](#)

[Banco Bradesco](#)

[Banco do Brasil](#)

[Banco Itaú](#)

[Banca Intesa](#)

[Bank of America](#)

[BMO Financial Group](#)

[BTMU](#)

[Barclays plc](#)

[BBVA](#)

[BES Group](#)

[Calyon](#)

[Caja Navarra](#)

[CIBC](#)

[Citigroup Inc.](#)

[Credit Suisse Group](#)

[Dexia Group](#)

[Dresdner Bank](#)

[E+Co](#)

[EKF](#)

[FMO](#)

[Fortis](#)

[HBOS](#)

[HSBC Group](#)

[HypoVereinsbank](#)

[ING Group](#)

[KBC](#)

[Manulife](#)

[Mizuho Corporate Bank](#)

[Millennium bcp](#)

[Nedbank Group](#)

[Rabobank Group](#)

[Royal Bank of Canada](#)

[Sanpaolo IMI](#)

[Scotiabank](#)

[Standard Chartered Bank](#)

[SMBC](#)

[The Royal Bank of Scotland](#)

[Unibanco](#)

[Wells Fargo](#)

[WestLB AG](#)

[Westpac Banking Corporation](#)